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TRAUT\IVEIN v. RICHARDSON 

ORDER. 

Order of Court of Bankruptcy varied by 

(a) deleting in the declaration as to the Royal Hotel, 
Riverstone, the words - "that the providing. of the 
money by the bankrupt f0r the purchase ·or the said 
hotel was an alienation made by the bankrupt with 
intent to defraud creditors" and substituting therefor 
the following words - nthat the purchase by the bankrupt 
of the said hotel in the name of the appellant T .w. 
Trautwein constituted analienation by the bankrupt of the 
said hotel with intent to defraud creditors which is 
void against the resp·ondent, the trustee in bankruptcy11 ; 

(b) deleting in the declaration as to the Oceanic Hotel, 
Coogee, the w0rds - "that the gift of the money by the 
bankrupt for the purchase of the Respondent's interest 
in the said hotel was an alienation made by· the bankrupt 
with intent to defraud creditors", and substituting 
therefor the foll0wing werds- 11and·this Court doth 
further declare that the purchase by the bankrupt of 
the undivided interest in the said hotel in the name of 
the appellant T.W. Trautwein c0nstituted an alienation 
by the bankrupt of the said interest with intent to 
defraud creditors whieh is void against the respondent, 
the trustee in bankruptcy"; 

(c) deleting in the declaration as to -

the Club House Hotel, 
the Commercial Hotel, 
the Settlers Arms Hotel, 
Wongala, and 
Ruperra 

after the word "purchase" the following words -
11 of each of the said pr0perties 11 and adding the 
following words - 11by the bankrupt of each of the 
said properties or of the estate or interest therein 
in the name ef the appellant T. W. Trautwein" ; 

(d) add~ng in the declaration that the purchase of.the Royal 
Hotel Walgett was an alienation made by the bankrupt 
with i!'ltent to defraud creditors the following words 
after the word nhotel" l ·.namely 11 in the name of the 
appellant T. W. Trautwe1n" ; 

(e) addiag, in the declaration as to the property known as 
"Raymcmd11 that the purchase of the property was an 
al~enation made by the bankrupt with intent to defraud 
creditors, after the word "property" the following 
werds - "ln the name of the appellant T.W. Trautwein"; 

(f) deleting in the declaration as to the property known as 
11Cheverton11 th.e words "that the purchase of the said 
property in so far as it gave to the respondent a one 
haJ.f interest tnere~nu and substitRtin.g therefer the 
foJ.lowing words - 11 tba.t the purchase of the said property 
in the name of Birdie Pitt to the extent of the undivided 
interest therein which the said Birdie Pitt purported to 
hoJ.d for the appellant T.W. Trautwein"; 

(g) adding, in the declaration that the purchase of the land 
on which is ereeted the Aerodrome Hotel was an alienation 
made by the bankrupt with intent to defraud creditors, 
after th~ word "land" the following words 11by the bankrupt 
in the :nj:ime of the appellant T.W. Trautwein"; 

(h) I 
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2. 

(h) adding a declaration that the conveyances and transfers 
directed by the order are without prejudi.;ce to any 
application on the part of the appellant to the 
Bankruptcy Court for an order declaring the liens or 
charges in his favour (if any) to which the properties 
anected to be conveyed or transferred are subject and 
what indemnity or indemnities, if any, should be given 
to the appellant in respect of them. 

Appeal3 otherwise dismissed, with costs o 
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.TRA1JTWEIN y. RICHARDSON. 

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT. LATHAM C.J. 

These are appaals by Thea William Nugent Trautw~in 

agains~der• of the Court of Bankrupt.cy (His Honour Judge Clyne) 

made upon two motions by the trustee of the bankrupt estate of 
I 

Theodore Charles Trautwein, the father of the appellanto 

The trustee claimed that certain property belonged 

to the bankrupt estate, or that it should be transferred to the 

trustee, and that the appellant (whom I shall call nthe son11 ) 

should furnish accounts of his dealings with and in respect of 

other property which had, for some period li1 the past, been vested 

in him. The.claims of the trustee were based upon three grounds: 

(1) That the appellant holds certain property 

in trust for the bankrupt. Under this claim the trustee alleges 

that certain transactions created trusts in the son in favour~f 

'the bankrupt and that they are good, valid and subsisting trusts, 

and he asks that they be enforced for the benefit of the bankrupt 

estate. 

(2) Alternatively, that properties now held by 

the appellant were aliena ted to him by the bankrupt with int'ent 

to defraud the creditors of the bankrupt, and that the alienations 

are therefore now voidable at the instance of the trustee li1 

bankruptcy- Conveyancing Act 1919-1939, sec. 37A - a provision 

which, in 1930, replaced 13 Eliz. c. 5. Under this claim the 

appellant does not seek to enforce any trust alleged to be 

created in favour of the bankrupt. On the contrary, he seeks to 

have certain alienations of property set aside so that the 

property alienated will re-vest in the trustee as representing 

the bankrupt for the benefit of the estateo 

(3) That certain transfers of property by the 

bankrupt made within five years before thebutin'uptcy were 

settlements of property and were accordingly void as against the 

trustee -Bankruptcy Act 1924-33, sec. 94. Such a settlement is 

void as against the trustee unless the parties claiming under it 

prove I 
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prove that the settlor was, at the time of making the settlement, 

able to pay all his debts without the aid of the property 

comprised in the settlement -sec. 94(1)(ii). No attempt was made 

by the appellant to give such proof. Under this claim, as under 

the last-mentioned claim, the trustee does not adopt the 

transactions of the bankrupt, but repudiates them, and seeks to 

have them declared void. 

The defences to these claims are:-

(1) That the trusts alleged to have been created by 

the bankrupt in favour of himself are not proved; that each 

transaction must be considered separately, and that there is no 

evidence (except in certain particular cases) to show either 

(a) that the appellant held the properties in trust for the 

bankrupt; or (b) that if he did not do so, the alienations by 

the bankrupt to the appellant were made with intent on the part 

of the bankrupt to defraud his creditors. 

(2) That, so far as the respondent trustee relies on 

a trust in favour of the bankrupt, that trust was, on the 

respondent's case, a trust made with intent to defraud creditors. 

It is argued t~t such a trust is illegal, and therefore cannot 

be enforced by the trustee as successor to the interest of the 

bankrupt. The proper remedy in such a case, it BSaid, is not to 

enforce the trust, but to set aside a particular alienation made 

by the bankrupt. If the property alienated is still in the 

hands of the son, or can be traced into other property which 

is still in his hands, the setting aside of the alienation in 

proceedings against the son will vest the property in the trusteeo 

But, it is contended, there is no other remedy against the son 

in such a case. 

(3) That the transfers of property by the bankrupt to 

the appellant were transfers by a father to a son, and must be 

presumed to be advancements to the son. The evidence, it is 

contended, does not displace this presumption. Such transfers, 

if made more than five years before the bankruptcy (so as to 

escape I 
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e:scape the operation of sec. 94 of the Bankruptcy Act) therefore 

must stand and cannot be set aside. 

(4) That from the year 1917 the bankrupt from time to 

time created trusts of property, evidenced in several cases by 

contemporaneous documents, in favour of his then infant son; that 

, the father dealt with the properties as his own, and so became 

liable to account for the proceeds to the son; that after the 

son came of age (on 19th August 1933) the father recognised his 

liability and transferred properties t9 him in satisfaction for 

the breaches of trust. If these transfers bad been made within 

six months of the bankruptcy, they would have been preferences 

of the son as a creditor, and might therefore have been void 

as against the trustee under the Bankruptcy Act, sec. 95. But 

they were all made at earlier dates, and therefore, it is said, 

remain valid: Glegg v. Bromley, 1923 3 K.B., 474. 

(5) As to transactions within five years of the 

bankruptcy, the appellant relies upon judicial interpretations of 

the Bankruptcy Act, sec. 94. Sec. 94(5) provides that "settlement" 

for the purposes of the section includes any conveyance or transfer 

of property, but H is established that the section applies only. 

to transfers of property intended (presumably by the 11 settlor11 ) to 

be retained by the ''donee": In re Player, 15 Q.B.D., 682: In re 

Vansittart, 1893 1 Q.B., 181: Williams v. Lloy_S!, 50 C.L.R., 341. 

The challenged transfers, it is contended, were not "settlements" 

within the meaning of the section. 

(6) Other questions which arise upon the appeal relate 

to the form of relief that should be granted if the trustee's case 

in respect of any property i.s accepted. In particular, the order 

made by the Court of Bankruptcy includes declarations with respect 

to properti~s which have passed out of the hands of the son. It 

is the case of the trustee that the son was a dummy for his father, 

so that in dealing with these properties he obeyed the directions 

of his father. As the dispositions of the property were therefore 

made I 



made with the consent of the father, there can be no outstanding 

:Liability to the father upon any trust in favour of the father. 

J:f this be the case there is no liability of the son upon those 

~rusts and no order should have been made in respect of them. 

(7) Further, transfers of property impeached under 13 Eliz. 

c. 5 (or the Conveyancing Act sec. 37A) or the Bank.ruptcy Act, 

~ec. 94, are voidable only and not void, and are therefore valid 

-until set aside. The learned Judge accepted this view of the 

:law when he said:-

11Where an alienation is avoided it is not 
avoided ab initio, but from the time when the 
creditors claim to treat it as such; and 
consequently where property has been conveyed 
under an alienation which is voidable the 
creditors are not entitled to the rents and 
profits prior to avoidance. 

Where the property comprised in a 
fraudulent alienation has been converted the 
creditors may follow it. 

See Halsbury's Laws of England 2nd Ed. 
Vol. 15 p. 260. 11 

It is contended for the son that the declarations as to property 

~o longer held by the son are useless. They cannot provide a 

foundation for any order against the son in respect of the 

property alienated and obviously they cannot affect in any wa~· 

the rights of the persons to·whom the property has passed from 

the son. Those persons are complete strangers to these 

proceedings o 

The conclusions of the learned trial Judge are 

based upon a review of the bankrupt's business affairs from the 

year 1917 to the year 1940. The order of sequestration was made 

on 23rd September 1940 and the bankruptcy commenced on 30th August 

1940, the act of bankruptcy consisting in failure to comply with a 

bankrt1ptcy I 



bc:tnk.ruptcy· notice: l3ankruptcy Act, sec. 90. The only substantial 

debts of the ban}.::rupt were debts in respect .of Federal and State 

incoml3 tax, in a]J_ £212,639, a sum which inr.;:ludes penalties. At 

the time of sequestration the assets of the banlcrupt consisted of a 

farm which realised_ £10,3'71, subject to a mortgage of £'7,976, and 

some other assets which realised less than £4000. The net reali.sa-

tion of asset.s w·as about £8000, with some apparentl~r negligible 

outstanding items. The am.ount of the liability of the bankrupt 

for income tax sl1ows that prior to his bankruptcy hE:1 raus t have been 

a very wealthy man. 

At the ttm(c;; of the sequestration members of the 

banl::rupt 1 s famiLy held assets of large value which had been acq_u:i1·ec1 

since 1 928, when the incom.e tax authori.tie s began to make sear 

enquiries into t;he banl;;rupt 1 s affairs. Upon th.is appeal we are 

maixtly concerned 1J<rtt;h properties acq11.ir eel by the son since that date. 

Heal property and funds belonging to the .father, and real property 

and runds appa.rently belonging to othor members of the family have 

been traced into these assets'. No evidence has been given which 

suggests any other source than the father as a.n •~xplanation of' 

the acqlJisiti.on by the son of properties worth many thousands ;of 

pounds. 

The bankr·upt is now about 77 years of age. In his 

business d.ealings he i'req_uently used the names of his wife, 

Kathleen Ge:rtrude Eaizabeth. T'rautwein, his daughter K.Yf. Trautwei.n 

(aftervmrds Ji•L·s • Frauenfelder), his son Theodore William Nugent 

Trautwein (the ap1;ellant), his mother Ann:i,.e ~lozall, his brother 

Vil.H. Trautvrein, his married sisters sta Chapman and Hilda 0 1Grady, 
his 

<:md/brother···in-law li'rancis 0 1 Grady. The bank1'upt also used the 

names of a considerable number of other persons. The son, the 

brother, • and I;Ir s . 0 1 Grady and ]\!r s • Chapman gave evidence i11. the 

proceedings. The other persons named were not called as v'litnesses. 

For many years prior to his bankruptcy the bankrupt 

engaged in dealing in real estate, particularly in hotel properties 

and hotel licences. He also made large investments in shares in 

racing I 
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racing clubs. The practice of professing to be acting on behalf of 

other persons may well have strengthened the bargaining position of 

the bankrupt in his land and share transactions-. He was a weaJ. thy man, 

and there is no evidence that, apart from his liabilities for State 

and Federal income tax, he was ever in any circumstances of financial 

embarrassment. Many of his dealings were conducted for cash, or by 

transferring bonds, but the careful analysis of his transactions which 

has been made on behalf of the trustee has made it possible to trace 

the source of the consideration for which various properties, the 

ownership of which is now in question, ittere obtained. 

The evidence shows that the bankrupt dea:Jt with 
; 

property as his own quite irrespective of the fact that the title 

to the property might stand in the name of one or other of his 

relatives. He was the business head of the family and the members 

of the family simply acted in accordance with his directions. They 

executed documents as he desired, sometimes without any knowledge 

whatever of the nature of the transactions which the documents 

carried out. Names were used apparently at random, but doubtless 

for some reason of convenience at the time. Contracts of purchase 

and sale were prepared in the name of one member of the family, and, 

upon execution, were altered so that another relative became the 

contracting party. On occasions one person signed the name of 

another with no formal authority. The fact that property stands in 

the name of the son can be regarded only as the very minimum of 

- evidence that the fathe.r in:t~nd,ed, him to~ hold _j._i; !'en~fic~q.lly. 

In general, the learned Judge has taken the view 

that if the bankrupt provided any money or property which vms used 

for the purchase of any other property in the name of the son, then 

prima facie the son held his interest in that property on trust for 

the bankrupt. 

In 1928 the income tax authorities began to, make 

enquiries into the re~urns furnished by the bankrupt since 1921. As 

a result of these enquiries, past assessments were amended and, as 

the enquiries proceeded, it became quite obvious that very heavy 

demands I 
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demands would be made upon the bankrupt for income tax. The 

evidence shows that, beginning with demands in May 1929 for over 

£25,000 for State income tax, and in 1930 for £108,000 for Federal 

income tax, the demands ul~imately made in respect of State and 
I 

Federal taxes and penalties amounted to £477,000. Large payments 

were made on account. In September 1937 the Federal Commissioner 

of Taxation recovered judgment against the bankrupt in respect of 

the years 1921-1927 for the amount of £101,996. There were further 

liabilities in respect of subsequent years. As already stated, at 

the date of sequestration the amount which he.owed for income tax 

was £212,639. Counsel referred to the reports of the proceedings 

in th~s court with respect to the bankrupt's income tax- 56 C.L.R., 

pp. 65, 196 and 211. These reports show that the Commissioner of 

Taxation established against the bankrupt the proposition that he 

carried on a business of betting and a business of dealing in 

properties, so that receipts from these sources were income and 

not capital. 

The bankrupt had no reason for attempting to defraud 
. ap_parently 

.creditors before 1928 because/he had practically no creditors 

before that date. He was certainly in no financial difficulty 

during the .. period before 1928. It is probable (as already 

suggest~d) that he put his property in the names of other prople 

in order to facilitate dealings by appearing to act on behalf of· 

others, who "would have. to be consul ted", and not of himself. He 

may also have intended to save income tax by representing that 

income derived from what in fact was his own property was the income 

of the other persons in whose names the property was held. Trans­

actions which are designed to evade assessment to income tax may be 

offences against income tax law and may be void as against the 

Commissioner for Income Tax, but it is expressly provided that the 

provisions in the Income Tax Assessment Act do not avoid them as 

\against other perso~s: Income Tax Assessment Act (Commonwealth) 

1 922-1 934, sec s. 66 to 72, sec. 93. In Prwne v. MeDon~ (supra) 

the relation of 13 Eliz. c. 5 and of income tax laws to the subject 

of illegality is e.'i.poun.Qed ~ • ~n intent to avoid assessment 

to I 
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to income tax is not an intent to defraud creditors, and in my 

opinion. no reason except a general suspicion based upon subsequent 

events can be adduced to support a finding that before about 1928 

the bankrupt had any intention to defraud any creditors. The 

position, however, was very different after 1928, when assessments 

were made to large amounts of tax. 

The respondent trustee first contends that certain 

properties owned by the son are held by him in trust for the 

bankrupt and that he (the respondent) can enforce these trusts as 

successor to the interest of the bankrupt. These properties were, 
by means of money, 

it is contended, purchased/ or obtained by· exchange with property, 

which really belonged to, or was held on behalf of the bankrupt. 

The father provided, it is contended, either directly or 

indirectly, the value which was given for properties now apparently 

owned by the son. There is, it is conceded, a prima fac:i.e 

presumption of advancement in such a case because of the father­

son relation, but that presumption is rebutted by evidence. The 

evidence, it is argued, shows that the properties were put in the 

name of the son, not to confer any benefit upon him, but to be 

held for the father, subject entirely to his directions, and 

with the object of putting them out of reach of the father's 
,it is contended, 

creditors. The evidence/provides the necessary rebuttal of the 

presumption of advancement.· In the case of the Riverstone Hotel, 

for instance, if the evidence shows that it was intended by the 

father, with the Ir.nowledge of the son, that the son should hold 

his interest in the hotel for the father, then the respondent 

is entitled to enforce the trust for the benefit of the creditors 

whom he represents - the beneficial i.nterest in the property being 

part of the bankrupt's estate. The trustee would be entitled to 

an order for the transfer to him of the son's interest, proper 

terms being imposed to protect the son against any ottstanding 

liabilities in respect of the propertyo 

But I 
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But it is contended for the son that though (1) a trust 

under which the son simply holds pro~erty for the bankrupt may be 

enforced against the son by the trustee, yet (2) if the evidence 

shows that the trust was created with intent to defraud creditors, 

the trust is illegal and caru1.ot be enforced. The son relies. upon 

the maxim In pari delicto potior est conditio defendentiso 

It would be a strange result that proof of intent to 

defraud creditors should require the court in effect to promote and 

secure the defrauding of creditors by preventing the recovery by 

the trustee in bankruptcy of property alienated with such intent. 

It is true that a person who puts his property in the name of 

another person for an illegal purpose cannot recover the property 

from him if the illegal purpose has been carried out, even partially: 

see cases cited in Laws of England, 2nd Edn., Vol. 33, p. 153. But 

if the purpose has not been carried out, the transferee still simply 

holding the property for the alleged purpose, the transferor or 

his trustee in bankruptcy can recover the property notwithstanding 

tha.t the transfer was made for some illegal purpose - T~lor Vo 

Bowers, 1 Q.E.D., 291: Payne v. McDonald, 6 C.L.R., 208: 

Perpetual Trustees etc. £ssn. v._Wright, 23 C.L.R., 185: Donaldson 

Y..:_f.;.ees<;>lh 51 C.L.R., 598o The trustee, in seeking to recover 

the property for the benefit of creditors, is not setting up a 

fraud to make a title but is repudiating a fraud. In my opinion 

there is no doubt as to the right of a trustee in bankruptcy to 

recover from a trustee for the bankrupt property transferred to that 

trustee with intent to defraud creditors. 

In the alternative, the respondent contends that 

certain transactions between the bankrupt and the son constituted 

alienations by the bankrupt with intent to defraud his creditors, 

and that, the son being a volunteer, these transactions should be 

declared to be void under the Conveyancing Act, sec. 37A. As to 

this contention, the son _____ _:_urges that sec. 37A deals only with 
,, 

dispositions made by the bankrupt and that, for example, a transfer 

of I 
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o:f land to the son by a third party at the instance of the father 

and paid for by the father would not fall within the sta.tuteo 

If such a transfer were declared void, it is argued, the result 

would be to revest the land in the vendor and not in the father. 

Rut the courts have not taken this view of 13 Eliz. c. 5, the 

substance of which is reproduced in sec. 37A of the Conveyancing 

Act. The courts have treated, the provisions of 13 Eliz. c. 5 as 

pxoducing the result that property bought with the debtor's money 

and procured by him to be vested in a volunteer with the intent 

o:f defrauding his cfeditors can be treated as if it belonged to 

the debtor: see the cases cited in Laws of England, 2nd Edn., 

VeL 15, p. 246: In re Mo·uat, 18991 Ch., 831. Thus there is 

a1.1thorHy to support the declarations made in the order under 

appeal that purchases of property arranged by the bankrupt in 

the name of his son were alienations of property by the bankrupt. 

The evidence is very voluminous, and it has been 

carefully analysed by the learned Judge in Bankruptcy. There 

is little actual conflict of evidence. Most of the evidence is 

documentary. The son was regarded as an unsatisfactory witness 

and the learned Judge did not accept his evidence on certain 

matters as to which he was the principal witness - particularly 

the alleged appropriation by the father of properties in 

compensation for breaches of t1~st by the father. There is, 

in :my opinion, no reason for varying any of the findings of fact 

o:f the Bankru.ptcy Court as to the actual transactions of the 

parties concerned. But it is contended for the son that the 

facts found do not support the inferences drawn as to trust for 

tl1e father and as to intent to defraud creditorso 

In my opinion, these inferences are satisfactorily 

s1.1pported by the facts proved in relation to the period from 1928 

onwards. The bankrupt was then threatened with very heavy liabili­

ties for tax: he deprived himself of valuable assets which he owned 

ox controlled: he brought about the. result ~hat his son, without 

providing the purchase money to any substantial extent, became the 

a:pparent owner of valuable assets: the son acted in relation to them 

according to his father 1 s directions. The only alterP..a.tive 
explanations suggested were (1) advancement, (2) appropriatio~pt> 

meet , 
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meet breaches of trust by the father. These explanations 1vere 

.rejected b;)r the lem1.ed Judge, and, in my opinion, r.:i.ghtly. The 

facts which I have just summar'ised a1'e more consistent with the 

inferences drawn by the learned J"udge than they are with the 

opinion that the father vms making bona fide straight mJ.t gifts to 

his son, an.d that he was not influenced by his own mounting 

liabilities. As to appropriation to meet breaches of trust- the 

corroboration of the unsatisfactory story o:t' the son ·vvas very 

shadowy. I will return to this matter later. 

I propose :now to consider ea.ch class of declara.tion 

or order made ]:)y the or<.ler wader appeal. 

1. The order appealed from declares that the 

following p.ropert:ies were held by the son a.t the commencement of the 

bankruptcy upon trust for the bankrupt and directs that they be 

transferred by the son to the trustee :m. bankruptcy:-

(a) the I1oyal Hotel, Hiverstone, 
(1:J) the respondent's interest in the Oceanic Hotel, Coogee, 
(c) 25,700 shares in Coogee Bay Hotel Fty. IJtd., 
(d) 500 shares in Tattersall's Hotel (Penrith) Pty. I,td., 
(e) 21 , 709 shares in Gos ford Hacing Club Ltd., 
(f) 697 shares in Menangle Park Racing Club, 
(g) 462. shares in Richmond Jockey Club Ltd., 
(h) 100 shares in Hotel Riverstone Pty. Ltd., 
( i) £1000 Bond No. 503 5 issued 41~ 1947, converted into 

Bm1d No. 8698. 

Emta l Hotel, Hiyer:s t..on~ This hotel 111ras purchased 

on 15th September 1936 for £19,800 m1der a contract made betvmen 

William J"os:peh East as vendor and the son as purchaser. The bankrupt 

negottated the purchase. 'rhe hotel was transferred to the ron. 

£1 o, OCO was paid to East and the son gave him a mortgage for the 

balance of purchase money - £9,800. 

The bankrupt neve1· m'llned the hotel: he did not 

al.iena te it or transfer it. Thus the trustee cannot obtain ~ hot,!?l 

undeJ~ either tbe Conveyancing Act, sec. 37A, or the Bankruptcy Act, 

sec. 91) [i-t has been helc1 that the son held the hotel in trust for 

the bankrupt. L This conclusion is based upon evidence relating to 

the means vrhereby the £10 ,ooo paid to East was provided, supported 

by the fact that in 1939 the banlrrupt paid £4,500 off the mortgage 

to East. 

The o,ooo was shown to be part of a sum of 

£22,000 



£22,000 received upon the sale of the Royal Hotel,, Walgett. ':Che 

balance of £1 2, 000 went to the banlcrupt. 

The Walgett Hotel was purchased in the namr:l or the 

son for £19,000 on 6th Jt!'ebruary 1936. The bankrupt negotiated the 

purchase. The consideration of £19,000 consisted of three elements­

(a) Lochgarr:ie Flats, taken as being of a value of ,ooo, (b) cash 

~C4000 and a ban.k c.heque for £4000, (c) Wongala Cottage, taken as 

of a val1..1e of £3000. 

Lochg;a:rrie Flats was l:)ought the bankrupt's 

daughter on 15th hfurch 1935 for £8000. 'J:he rontract was prepaJ~ed in 

the name of the bank.:rupt as purchaser, but was altered so that the 

daughter appeared as the pm~chaser. The £8000 was paid trans-

ferring Flats, taken at £3500, and a bant. cheque for £4500. 

'I'he contract for the purchase of Vlilga li'lats was prepared in the 

name of the bankrupt, but was altered so that the daughter appearc:!d 

as the purchaser. The bankrupt signed her name to an addendum to 

the contract. Viilga :nats was subject to a mortgage when bougtxt. 

The consicleration iven for 

at Parrama t ta Road, Drunmmyne 

Flc:lts was the transfer of land 

valued at £3650. 'rhis land ·was in 

the name of the daughter. The purchase of ii~ was arranged by the 

ban}trupt. 'rl1ere is no evidence that the dau,ghter any money 

to buy the land. 

for a cheque drawn by the Coogee Hotel Ltd. in favour of the 

, a cheque for £421 : 1 0:6 drawr1 by the banlo~upt, and a cheque 

is sued :Ln I' eturn for cash. The bankrupt, not the daughter, made. 

the request for the issue of the bank cheque :for £4500 in the na.me 

of the vendor of Lochgarrie Flats. 

'rhus Lochgarrie Flats - elmnent (a) in the con­

sideTation for the purchase of the 'l!algett Hotel - is shown to have 

been purchased by a transaction in Yihich the daughter can be regarded 

only as a last-moment dummy for the bankrupt. It is not proved 

that the out of her mvn resources provided an:v consideration. 
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The second element, (b), in the con,sideration for 

the purchase of the Walgett Hotel was cash £4000 and a bank cheque 

for £4000, the bank cheque being issued in return for cash deposited 

in the account of the son. The source of this £8000 in cash is not 

proved. The son gave evidence, but did not satisfy the Judge that 

he provided any of the money. It is, I think, a reasonable inference 

that the only probable source of the rnoney ·;vas the bankrupt. 

As to the third element, (c) 1/~onga.la Cottage, in 

the considera.tion for: the Walgett Hotel, the evidence shmvs that 

this property '":ms obtained by the son in part .tbr Hayinond 

Flats. The contract of se .was prepared in the name of the 

daughter, but 'J'I·'=L:S a.ltHred so that the son a.ppeared as the purchaser. 

Flats .,,11as bought in the name of the son on 

·16th i,~a:cch "1934 for £7600. The s:.1 n did not even purport to find 

any of tlHJ purchase money. £?600 11\faS provided as follows:-

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

£3,100 cash from the bankrupt: 

],,Janmbra Hoad property (£1 000) 
apparently owned by Francis 0 1 Grady but 
admittGcl by· him to have been held on 
behalf of the bankrupt; 

Paine Street Ranclwick Property (£2000) 
apparently owned JHlda 0 1 Grady but 

ed with money ti::J.e 
, who also 

ty; 

.ii.::~ton Gardens - land at Woollahra 

.tmnifJ 

ovrned 
it fr•om 

who 

imn.iG L!ozall vras the vendor to the it is not 

v!'ithout thc:1.t the cont:ract under v1hich she acquired 

this Jll'Oper vm.s in the nan1e of the as purchaser', 

it is :l.n fact by Annie I,Iozall and the transfer wa.s made to her .. 

Thus an analysis of the purchase of the Walgett 

Hotel shows that the bankrupt in large measure, if not enti1ely, 

by 1nclirec:t means, provided the consideration for the purcha.se. 

It may be added that when Raymond Flats, apparently 

belonging to the son, was sold, he rece1ved 1~Vongala Cottage (valued 

at £2000) but his mother received ·£5'781 of thf~ sale }:;,riceo 
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The Riverstone Hotel purchase is a fair sample of the 

barurrupt 1s dealings. There was apparently a complete indifference 

to the apparent ownership of properties as between the bankrupt, 

his son, mother, sister and daughter. No accounts were kept of any 

credits or debits resulting to any of these participants in the 

various dealings. The properties were treated as if they all 

belonged to the same person - and that person, by reasonable 

inference, was the bankrupt. Large sums of cash were used, and this 

suggests a desire for concealment. There is no evidence that the 

son, so far as he provided assets for the purchase of the Riverstone 

Hotel, held those assets on his own account independently of his 

father. In my opinion it is a fair conclusion that he held his 

interest in the Riverstone Hotel in trust for his fathero 

The order of the Court of Bankruptcy contains two 

declarations and an order with respect to the Riverstone Hotel. 

First, there is a declaration that the hotel belongs to the applicant 

(the trustee in bankruptcy) on the ground that the son was at the 

commencement of the bankruptcy a trustee of the same for the bankrupt. 

This declaration should be affirmed. Secondly, there is a declara­

tion that the providing of the money by the bankrupt for the 

purchase of the hotel was an alienation made by the bankrupt with 

intent to defraud creditors. I agree that the evidence supports the 

findings embodied in this declaration but, in view of the declaration 

that the hotel belongs to the trustee in bankruptcy, I do not see 

that any useful purpose is served by including a declaration with 

reference to ·the providing of the money by the bankrupt. The fact 

that the ban.Y...rupt provided this money is part of the evidence upon 

which the finding of trust for the bankrupt is based. It appears to 

me that no remedy in respect of the money can be given against the 

son and that the decl.aration that the hotel belongs to the trustee 

in bankruptcy fully meets the case. I would omit the declaration with 

respect to the providing of money by the bankrupt. With these 

declarations there is associated a declaration that inasmuch as 

property in the name of the daughter (namely Lochgarrie) was 

utilised in "the acquisition by the respondent on behalf of the 

bankrupt of the Royal Hotel, Walgett, the proceeds of the sale of 

which were paid to the vendor of the said hotel at Riverstone" and 
inasmuch I , 
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inasmuch as the dau.ghter is not a party to the proceedings, the 

declarations alrea.dy made are 1na .. de subject to such charge, if 

as the daughter may have o'\rer the Riverstone Hote.l. In n1y op··n· . . • . l. lOU 

th:ts provision was rightly included in the order. Thirdly, the court 

or·ders that the son transfer the Hiverstone Hotel to the trustee in 

1)allk1"uptcy. ·upon the basis that the son held the hotel in tru for 

the bankr•upt this i.s a proper order. 

Qc§an;i.<; Hot.Ql. The order declares that the son's 

interest in the Oceanic Hotel, Googee, belonge~d to. tho trustee in 

on the grolmd that the son was at the commencement of the 

bank:ruptcy a trustee of the same for the bankrupt. 

This hotel, with furniture and effects, u\Tas 

purchasr:0d on 14th J-une 1 9 in the names of the son ::md da.ughter a,s 

tenants iii common from the City I!i'futual Life Assurance Society Ltd., 

selling as 1'he father never owned the hotel and did not 

alienate or transfer it. Accordingly the provisions of the Conveyanc-

ing Act, sec. 37A, and Bankruptcy Act, sec. 94, arE; of no avail to 

the trustee in relation to the hotel itself or to the rospondent 1 s 

interest in the hotel. 

'rhe purcha.se pr:l.ce was £70,000. £20,000 was paid 

on accmmt, leaving £50,000 outstanding under• the contract of sale. 

The contract was an·anged between the vendor and the father, 1/'rho at 

a late stage in the negotiations i.ntroduced the daughter as a co­

purchaser with his son. The contract of sale provided that a 

mortgage should be given for the outstanding balance, but this was 
contractuftl 

not done. The son and daughter are therefore; subject to tlliabill'fy 

to the City Mutual Life Assurance Company Ltd. of £50,000. 

The amount of £20,000 came almost entirely from 

the proceeds of sale of the Aerodrome Hotel, Richmond. The Aerodrome 

Hote 1 stood in the name of the son. The land upon which it WEtS built 

was paid for by the father and the learned Judge found that the 

licence wh:i,ch was transferred with the hotel was also }Jaid for by 

the father~ The Aerodrome Hotel was erected by Alex :r: .. 1aston Pty. Ltd. 

for a sum of £9,715. The building contract was made bet·ween this 

company and the son. The son admitted that the father paid the 

buildel', but said that he paid him on his (the son 1 s) behalf • The 

learned I 



learned .Judge found that the father paid the builder. This transac­

tion took place in 1939, when the bankrupt was heavily indebted. 

In my opinion t;he learned Judge was entitled to draw the inference 

that the son held his interest in the Oceanic Hotel in trust for the 

bankrupt. Accordingly the order, in so far as it so declares, 

should be affirmed. 

No provision, however, has been made for the protection 

of the son and the daughter against the outstanding liability of 

£~0,000 under the contract of purchase of this hotel. In the present 

case we are dealing only with the interest of the son in the hotel. 

Upon the basis that the son is a trustee of his interest for 

his father, he is entitled to be indemnified by his father against 

liabilities incurred in carrying out the trust, and he is entitled 
1!!111111• 

to a lien on the trust property in respect of payments properly 

made in a performing the trust. The order should include, in my 

opinion, a term providing for the inclusion in any transfer by 

the son of provisions protecting his lien on the hotel in respect 

of any purchase money which may be paid by him, and also preserving 

the liability of the bankrupt to indemnify the son - a liability 

in respect of which the son may lodge a proof of debt. 

There is a f'urther declaration that the gift of the money 

by·the bankrupt for the purchase of the respondent's interest in 

the hotel was an alienation made by the bankrupt with intent to 

defraud creditors. I would omit this declaration because it cannot 

be the foundation of any remedy in the present proceedings. In so 

far as money of the father went into the Oceanic Hotel the 

creditors will get the full benefit of it under the declaration 

that the son is a trustee of the hote1 for the bankrupto 
'lib' 

25,700 shares Coogee Bay Hotel Pt1l,_. Ltd. As to these shares 

it has been dec1ared that the respondept holds them on trust for 

the bankrupt, and a transfer of the shares is orderedo 

The respondent's case with respect to these shares was that 

they were transferred to him in settlement of claims which he had 

against the father for breaches of trust. This defence depends upon 
the son establishing that from 1917 onwards his father fit"om time 
to time transferred various properties to trustees for him, 

or hims.elf declared that he held properties in trust for him. 
The I 



The tru.sts were to convey to him upon his a.ttaining .21 years of 

age, or to deal with the property as the bankrupt and he should 

direct. This defence depends in the first place upon the 

establishment of the trusts alleged. His Honour found that a 

trust was established in 1917 when the son was only five years old, 

with respect to a propert;v at ;illuswellbrook, a.nd in 1922 with 

respect to a p1roperty at Hooty Hill. But His Honour was not 

prepared to find that trusts existed in respect of other 

property, namely land at Penshurst (1925), J,,IIaroubra Ba.y (1925), 

near Bellmore Hotel (1929), College Green Hotel (1929) and 

Orielton (1931). In most cases there are contemporary documents 

recording the trusts. J1ll the pl'operties, however, VITere 

disposed of by the bankrupt or in accord<:mce with his O.irections. 

~'he proceeds of sale of these properties amounted to about 

£27,000. The son claimed that j_n 1935· his father recognised and 

adrni tted his liability to account for these proceeds and trans­

ferred to him various properties in satisfaction of hi.s liab:llityo 

The son gave evi.dence that, the father told him that he 

had seen l~Ir. A.C. Gain, barrister, on this matter :i.n 1935. The 

fact tha.t the bankrupt vm.s consulting Mr. Gain in relation to 

l1is affairs i.s esta1)1Jshed l;y other ev·iden.ce, e.g. t.b.at of Til[r. 

Baldwin, the bankrupt's soH.citor. The son said, and he was 

supported to some extent by J'll:r. Baldwj_n, that the father said 

that b.e ha.d consul teet Mr. Gain about his breaches of trust, and 

that Mr. Gain had advised him that he could make compensat.ion ./·-

for sueh br<'::aches by transferring properties to the son and that 

the transfers would be effective if the father did not become 

bankrupt within fi.ve years of the transfer. (The Bankruptcy Act, 

sec. 94, applies only.to transfers made within five years 

before sequestration, and sec. 95 relates only to prefer£mces 

given to creditors within six months before sequestration.) 

According to the respondent the father said tl1:1.t he proposed to 

transfer properties in satisfaction of the breaches of trust. 

iimong / 



Among the propr::::rties said to have been so transferred were the 

Coogef; Bay Hotel shares now under considera ti.on ( 1933 to 1 5) , 

Haymond Flats (1 ) and Gosford shares (Apr:l,l 1935). 

The .. learned Judge completely disbelieved the story 

that any of these pro]Jerties had been appro1Jriated to meet 

breaches of trust in pursuance of advice received from Mr. Gain. 

Mr. Gain was not alive at the date of the pr·oeeed.tngs in th(':! 

Bankruptcy Court. It was said that Smith and Johnston, 

,l.ccm:mtants, had made an investigation of the alleged breaches 

of trust and had reached an estimate of the amount for ·wliich the 

bankrupt was liable, but no-one was called from that firm to 

support 1::;;he statement. When the affairs of the ban!<;:.rupt were 

under <::lose examination before the Board of HeviJWI a .. nd the Hi .. g:h 

Court ln the taxation proceedings, no contention was made that 

these trE11nsfers were to be by a.ppropriat::Lons to meet 

breaches o:f trust. '#hen the notice of opposition :in the present 

was filed the only trust alle wa.s a trust of land 

at J\IusweJ.ll)rook, and no mention "l"ras made of the otb.<:o!r trl:tsts now 

• 

In . my opinion the learned Judge v11as fully justif'led 

j_n rejecting the evj_dence with respect to all alleged appropria­

tions to meet breaches of trust. 

Thts conclusion, however, does not prevent the son 

from lad a of debt in respect of the alle breaches 

an.d. seeking to EJstablish that his fa.ther disposed of property· 

held in trust for him (the son) in breach of trust and has not 

accounted for the proceeds. 

As far as the 25,700 Coogee Bay shares are concerned, 

the only reply to the claim of the trustee j_n respDct of them v1as 

tl'll-J.t they were either a gift outri,ght to th~2! son, or were assigned 

to him in satisfaction of breaches of trust. When the evicience 

in circumstantial detail with respect to th.e latter con­

tention vras ri;;:jected, tt would be too much to expect that it 

could be i'ound in favour of the respondent that the shares were 

given outright. 
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The evidence showed that the bankrupt completely 

controlled the Coogee Bay Company; most if not all of the share­

holders were his dummies; they dealt with their shares and 

such dividends as were declared in accordance with his directions; 

he obtained large loans without interest, using the credi·t of the 

company; cheques drawn were used in other personal transactions 

by the bankrupt and by members of his family, as, for example, in 

the acquisition of Lochgarrie Flats. The 25,700 shares were 

transferred to the son by the nominees of the bankrupt, not by 

the bankrupt himself. The order that the son held these shares 

in trust for the banl~upt should be affirmed. 

In view of this order I am of opinion that the further 

declarations that the transfers of these shares to the respondent 

constituted alienations made by the bankrupt with intent to 

defraud creditors and that they are void are not necessary or 

useful and I would omit these declarations from the order. 

5'00 Sh§.res. Jn_Tattersall 1 s Hotel n~.~!?Jj.;Phl Pt~~~q_. 

The order with reference to these shares was not challenged" 

2;1,702 shares in Gosford Racing Clubo 69'1 sha:t:,e~ 

in Menang_le Park Racing C.±!~12· 462 shares in Richmond .Jocke;z 

Club Ltd. The evidence with respect to these shares is substan­

tially the same. It is to the effect that in 1934 and 1935 these 

shares were given by the bankrupt to the son. Admittedly he gave 

no consideration for them. The dividends on the shares were not 

infrequently paid into the bankrupt's bank account, and the 

evidence supports the conclusion that the son was merely the 

nominee of the bankrupt and that he held the shares in trust for 

him. In the case of these spares I W01Jld omit, for reasons already 
• 

stated, the declaration that the purchase of the s~are~ was an 

a1ienation with intent to defraud creditors and is void as against 

the trustee. 

100 I 



20. 

lQ9. shar§:.s in Hotel Rivers tone Ptx. Ltsi. The son said 

that he paid for thl'lSe shares with £100 of his own money in 

order to qualify as governing director and so obtai.n complte 

control of the company under newly framed articles of association. 

The Iearned ,Judge regarded this transaction as merely part of 

the procedure adopted for placing the son in apparent but not 

real control of the Hotel Riverstone, and I can see no reason to 

dissent from this finding. I understood counse1 for the trustee 

to say that there was no objection on his part to an addition to the 

order providing that upon the transfer of the shares the trustee 

shall repay to the respondent the purchase price of £100 and 

expenses incurred by him in the formation of the company. 

£J 000 b.Q!lfl. The order as to this bond is not challenged" 

(2) I have dealt with the first part of the order 

made by the Court of Bankruptcy, which relates to properties sti11 

held in tbe name of the son. There are other properties which in 

the past have stood in the name of the son, but which have been 

disposed of by him. As to the following properties, it was 

declared that the provision of money to purchase them, or the 

transfers of them, constituted a1ienations made by the bankrupt 

with intent to defraud creditors:-

(a) purc.hase of the Royal Hotel, Walgett, 
(b) purchase of Raymond F'.J_a ts, 
(c) purchase of Cheverton, 
(d) purchase of land on which is erected the Aerodrome Hotel. 

In my opinion these declarations should be omitted, for the 

reason that they can lead to no effective order. Th~3 ,?cguisiti.on 

of property as, for example, of the land on which the Aerodrome 

Hotel was erected, by the bankrupt was not an alienation of 

property b~r the bankrupt. Therefore the declarations must be 

regarded as dealing with mone::t or other property which was used 

for the purchase of the wariocts properties m.entioned. The 

declarations are m<:1de upon the basis that such moneys or property 

belonged to the bankrupt. The properties purchased (directly or 

ind:i.rectly) with tbe moneys or other property have been declared 

to be beld in trust for the bankrupt and it has been declared that 

the I 



21. 

the trustee is entitled to a transfer of them. Accordingly, it 

appears to me that no useful purpose is served by including in 

the order the declarations as to these properties. It should be 

added that an order made now setting aside an alienation made 

in the past would not make the son liable to account for rents 

and profits received during the past period when he was in 

possession- cases cited in Laws of England, 2nd Edn., Vol. 15, 

p. 260 •. 

{3) As to the following properties, it was declared 

that while they stood in the name of the son they belonged 

beneficially to the bankrupt:-



')? 
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(a) the Club H01.lS13 Hotel,. Peak Hill, 
(b) the Commercial Hotel, Old Imgledool, 
(c) the Settlers Arms Hotel, St. Albans,. 
(d) tb.e property known as 'iNonga la, 
(e) the property lrnown as Huperra, 
(f) the Hoyal Hotel, Walgett, 
(g) Raymond Flats, 
(h) half interest in Cheverton, 
(i) land on which Aerodrome Hotel is erected. 

All these s have been sold and, according 

to the ca.se ma.de for the trustee, the son, in so far as he had 

anything to dt:J with the disposition of the propertj.es, acted in 

accordance with the di.reetio:ns of the bankrupt. ~rlr1e bankr1l 

accordi.J"l.gl,y can hrJ.ve no ela.im . --:-_,-..,·-:··- <'lgainst the son in respect 

of any of the sf~ pl'operties, the son having fu accounted for 

them if they were held on trust for the banlcerupt. The trustee 

c:an be ).n no better position t.b.ail\ the in r of these 

properties. The bankrupt estate ,will ----~.- rE·ceive: the benefit 

of the va.lue of them, bec.ause, as has tJE':en shown, the 

proeeeds of these pro:perti(:;s, so far as they have been traced 

D1to properties still held by the son, will come to the trustee 

as part of the banluupt estate. 

A sum of £3000 lent the son on to l<'ra.nk 

Howell is declared to have been thEl bankru.pt 1 s money and to have 

been lent by the son as trustee :for the bankrupt. This sum was 

lent the son in his m\ITl name to Howell 1n August 1934. ~:he 

money was repaid in Pebruary 1936, and there is no evidence that 

it 1Nas dealt vd.th othervdse than in accordance with the 

d.iJ:'ections of tb.e bankrupt. In my opinion the d.eclaration with 

respect to Howell t s m.or ge should be omitted fron1 the order. 

(4) In the case of the Royal Hotel, Biverstone, 

the Walgett Hotel, and Raymond 1''la ts, a provision is included 

protect1ng any interest which the bankrupt's daughter Kathleen 

Waverley Frauenfelder maJr have in those properties, as she was 

not a party to the proce So far as the Royal HotEl, 

Hiverstone, is concerned, this appears to me to be a proper a.nd 

necessary provision. But the Walgett .Hotel and 'Raymond Flats 

now I 
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now belong to strangers not parties to the proceedings, and no 

order in these proceedings can in any way affect those properties 

or give to the daughter or preserve for the daughter any rights in 

those properties. I would omit the declarations with respect to the 

interests of the daughter in the case of the Walgett Hotel and 

Raymond Flats. 

(5) As to the house at Dover Heights, which became the 

home of the respondent after his marriage in 1937, it was declared 

that this property belonged to the trustee on the ground that its 

purchase constituted a settlement within the meaning of the 

Bankruptcy Act, sec. 94, and was void against the trustee. The 

house was bought in May 1938 from Messrs. Robertshaw and Naylor for 

£2,150. The son gave evidence that he provided the purchase price 

from his own moneys. He said that from about 1931 he had been 

betting successful1y and had accumulated an amount of about £3000 

which he kept in notes in his father's safe. He said that he gave 

£2140 in notes to his father to enable him to obtain a bank cheque 

to pay for the property, that his father duly obtained the cheque, 

and that it was used for this purpose. It was shown, however, that 

during about a year prior to the purchase he had an overdraft var:'Jing 

from £2000 to £4000, and the learned Judge naturally thought that 

it was improbable that he would keep some £3000 in notes in a safe 

instead of using it to save interest on the overdraft. 

Further, i.t appeared that the cheque for £2140 which was 

actually used to pay for the property was a cheque which had been 

obtained by the father from the Bank of New South Wales in pursuance 

of a request made by him to split a cheque representing part of a 

sum of £45,000 borrowed by the Coogee Bay Hoi:;el Company from the 

City Mutual Life Assurance Society and lent without interest by the 

Hotel Company to the bankrupt. This money was paid by means of six 

cheques, and in return for one of those cheques the cheque for 

£2140 in favour of the son was issued by the bank. His Honour 

accordingly rejected the son's evidence and held that the father 

provided I 
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provided the £2140 to enable the son to purchase the property at 

Dover Heights. His Honour accepted the evidence or the respondent 

that the object of the transaction was to provide him with a home 

and fountd that the bankrupt intended to make a gift of the 

property to the respondent. Accordingly it was not held that this 
' transaction was a transaction with intent to defeat creditors, or 

that the son holds the property in trust for the father. It has 

been found that the transaction was a gift by the father to the 

son. Ttlere is no reason for taking any other view of the evidence. 

The transaction took place within five years of the order 

of sequestration and the Bankruptcy Act, sec. 94, was applied. 

His Honour held that the transaction was a gift of the house by 

the father to the son, that the purchase of the house constituted 

a settlement of the house within the meaning of sec. 94, and that 

it was vo~d against the trustee in-bankruptcy. An order was made 

·that the son transfer the property to the trustee. 

Under the English Bankruptcy Act 1883, sec. 47, which 

corresponds to sec. 94 of the Commonwealth Bankruptcy Act, it has 

been he1d that "If there is a gift by a father to a son of money 

or proceeds of property which can be traced and the money or 

proceeds lis pr are ·~.jntel'lded•:to be retained·· or pi'eserved as the 

propert~ of the donee, that money or those proceeds will be 

property in 'settlement"': In re Plummer, 1900 2 Q.B. 790, at p.804. 

It is true that the father never owned the house which is now 

the son•s home and there is some difficulty in understanding how 

anyone can give away property which he never had: see Union 

Trustee Co. of Australia v. Webb, 19 C.L.R., 669, at p. 676: 

Perpetual Trustee Co. Ltd. v~ Commissioner of Stamp Duties 

(Sargooa•s Case), 1938 S.R. (N.S.W.), 160. But in the case of the 

bankrup~cy provision under consideration the courts have interpreted 

it in tbe manner stated and therefore the learned judge was 

justified in holding that the transaction with respect to the house 

at Dover Heights was a settlement of the house upon the son within 

the mear1ing of sec. 94, and it was rightly ordered that the son 

should transfer the house to the trustee. There is evidence, 

however I 



however, that the son has improved the house by expenditure of 

money and, in my opinion, the order should be made subject to a 

provision for an enquiry into that expenditure and to the payment 

by the trustee of the value of the improvements as at the time 

of sequestration. The claim for payment of the then value of the 

improvements is not a claim which could ever have been made against 

the father and is therefore not a claim in respect of which the 

son should be limited to a proof of debt in the insolvent estate. 

It is for this reason that in my opinion the order should be made 

subject to the provision which I have stated. 

In reaching the conclusions which I have stated, I have 

not taken into account any evidence to which objection was taken 

on behalf of the appellant. 

In my opinion the appeal should be dismissed, but the 

order should be val'ied in certain particulars in the manner which 

I have above stated. 



v. 

l1ICHA..liDSON 

JUDGM:E.:NT STARKE J. 

Appea,l from a. juclgme nt of the Federal Court of 

J3ankrp.ptcy, New South Wales District, dated 19th December 

1944 declaring in substance that cert~ain property both real 

and personal belonged to the estate of T.C. Trautwein, a 

bankrupt, and directing assurances 1;y the appellant for the 

}Jur:pose of vesting the same in the respondent the trustee 

in bankruptcy of T.C. Trautwein's es,tate and also declaring 

that certain other :property both real and personal which 

formerly had stood in the name of the appellant 1;elonged 

beneficially to the bankrupt while the same stood in the name 

cf the bankrupt. 

On the 23rd September 1940, the estate of T •. C .Trautwein 

was sequestrated in bankruptcy and the respondent is the 

·trustee of his estate. The bankrupt engaged in many dealings 

in real property including hotel pro11er·ty and in shares in 

companies and in ·bonds. 

He appears to have been a successful speculator hut 

apparan·t;ly was una.1:~le or unwilling to meet his income taxes. 

At the time of his bankruptcy there appears to have 

been ow·ing l.Jy him an accumulated sum of more than £200,000 

for the years 1921-1940 in respect of Federal and State 

Income Taxes, including penalties •. 

The net realisation of his estate is in the 

neigh1:JOurhood of £10,000 but there are some other assets 

which have not been realised and are apparently unrealisable. 

'fhe facts of t:1:1e case have been exhaustively examined 

and stated -oy the learned Judge in Bankruptcy and the 
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accuracy of that statement has not been challenged in any 

important respect but only the inferences drawn by the Judge 

whose main conclusion is that the bankrupt used the names of 

his family, his wife, his son 'r .W.Trautwein, his daughter 

Kathleen Frauenfelder and his relations, his mother, his 

sisters Augusta Chapman and Hilda 0 'Grady and his brother-

in-law li'rancis 0 'Grady and some other persons for t.he 

acquisition on his own account of various properties and for 

the purpose of defeating his creditors, princi:pally the Incmne 

Tax authorities. But I do not propose to go again in detail 

over the facts stated by the Judge but rather to summarise 

facts that arrest attention and are material to the 

de termination of this appeal. 

And first I refer to what the Judge d.escribes as the 

main defence of the appellant.. It is that certain 

properties - land at li:lus:,-wellbrook, the Rooty Hill Hotel, land 

a.t Penshurst, the College Green Hotel, land in Karoubra :Bay 

Road Ra.ndwick, land at J~1Iaroubra, land near the .Belmore Ho'te 1, 

Oriel ton Fa.rm and 1 O, 200 shares .in the Coogee :Bay Company -

were all acqu:ire d by the bankrupt in trust for and as an 

adtrancement to :tlim. 

Ancl there were produced in su:ppo rt of that allegation 

declarations of trust ancl other documents relating to the 

Mus~wellbrook land (1917), the land a.t 1?enshurst (1925), land 

inMaroub~?a.BayRoad (1925) and in High St. Maroubra. (1928), 

College Green Hotel ( 1930 )and a declaration of trust ( 1929) 

relating to land at :Belmore was mentioned in this Court, 

which was not proved before the Judge. 

'l~he appellant further alleged that the bankrupt was 

gui.lty of breaches of trust in connection with these 

properties and that to compensate him for those breaches the 

bankrupt appropriated or acquired for the a.J:1pella.nt other 

:property namely, Raym.ond li.,lats, The ..i'l.erodxome fiotel, ehares 
Park 

in the Coogee Ba.y Company, the Mena.ngle/Racing Club Ltd and 



t~e Gosford Racing Club Ltd. 

J>Jo doubt, said the Judge, according to the documents 

:produced trusts were established i.n favour of the appellant 

in respect of the Mustwellbrook rope rty, the Rooty ill 
' 

Hot.e l, the College Green Hotel, the land at l='enshuret, at 
1 he 

l'a.roubra and J!Jia1·oubra :Bay Hoad, J3ut, the Judge added, tha1/ 

did not b~.olieve the evidence given by the appellant, that 

the bankrupt a}:,propriated or made over to him as compensa·tion 

:for 1neache<"> of trust Raymond Flat·s, the Aerodrome Hotel, 
Park 

Bhares in Coogee Bay Comrlany, the Menangle/Racing Club Ltd. 

and t'n .. e Gosford Hacing Clul::J L~d. 

"rhe evidence of the a:ppella.nt thus makes it clear 

that these latter prope rt ie s were acquired by the ·bankrur: t 

in the name of or in t.rust for the appellant 1mt not for the 

pur11ase of compensating or recouping his losses in respect 

of breaches of trust co:mmitted in relation to .i)roperties 

in respect of which trusts \'l'ere established. It is 

unnecessary to set forth the evidence u:pon which the Judge 

reached his concltlsion: he sa\ll and heard the appellant and 

has set forth the reasons for his conclusion at length. All 

I need <:'aY is that that conclusion is :reasonal:>ly open on the 

evidence and should not be disturbed. 

J3efore referring to particular properties the su-bject 

of this ap:peal, I would add,th~"t the a·ppellant 1r;as 1Jorn :Ln 

August 1912. J1e had, I gather, small means ap;lrt from the 

bankrupt's activities and 1 i ttle 1nu:iness experience. 

I now propose to state some of what I call the 

arresting facts affecting [,;articular properties the subject 

a f this ,:;lppe a.l • 

Royal Hotel Riverstone: 

In 1936 this hotel was acquired in the name of the 

appellant for the sum of £19,800. The sum of ,£10,000 was 

pa,id in cash by a cheque drawn on the account of the 
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appellant and the balance wa.s secured on mortgage. The 

bankrupt arranged the purchase of the hotel and on settlement 

desire.d to reduce the :mortgage limlount a.nd pay a larger amount 

in cash. But the vendor refused to receive in cash more 

than £10,000. In 1939 the bankrupt. handed to the mortgagee 

or his agents the sum of over £4,.500 in ba.nk notes in part 

payment of the amount due on the mortgage and ultimately, 

according to the ap:pellant, discharged the balance of the 

mortgage. The cash :pa.ym.ent of £10,000 was d:er1:1i'ed from the 

:prov.eeds of sale of the Royal Hotel,Walgett, which in 1936 

had been acquired in t.he name. of the appeJ.Llant for the sum of 

£19,000 and was sold in t.he same year for the sum. of £22,000. 

The balance of t.he J}roc.e:eds of sale o.f the 1falgett Hotel, 

,£12,000, went to the bankrupt. 

T.he bankrupt had arranged the purchase of the Walgett 

Hotel for £19})00. He provided .,£8,000 and the balance of 

the }lllllrchase money was satisfied by the tra.r1sfer to the 

vendor of certain other propert.ies namely, Lochgarrie Flats 

and 11'onga].a., Cottage. According to the appella.nt the purchase 

of the Walgett Hotel was suiested by the bankrupt and was 
1\ 

discussed at a family council. The bankru:g.t said that he had 

d.iscuased t.he matte.r with the owner of the hotel who was 

:prepared to take "Wongala" and the block of flats called 

rtLochgarrie fl in part payment of the purcb.ase money. The 

IJUrcb.as,e was effected and it was arra.nged that the property 

should be put in the appellant ts name. Lochgarrie Flats 

was a property acquired in 1935 in the name (i!)f the bankrupt ts 

daughter the consid.eration being £8, OQO. The bankrup.:t, accord-

ing to the evidence,stated that he would make up later to his 

daughter the transfer by her of the Lochgarrie Flats. 'rhe 
"' 

flats, as already appears, weretaken over at that value in 

part. ll!atisfact.ion of the consideration for the purchase/of 

the Walgett Hotel. T.he consideration for the acquisition of 
in the daughters name 

Jlochgarrie Flats/was the pa.ym.ent of .£4,5'00 and the transfer 

of' 11Wilga Flats 11 valued at o£3, 5'00. 
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The bankrupt had negotiated the acquisition of "Wilga 

F1ats 11 in the name of his daughter for £3,650, subject to 

a mortgage of £1 ,850, which was satisfied by taking over 

certain land in P'a.ra.matta Road. in the name of the daughter 

and also e;, mortgage which tb.e holders or one a:f them agreed 

with the bankrupt to pay in case of default an the part o.f 

In fact this mortgag~ was retra.nsferred by 

the daughter in consideration of the payment of a sum of 

£1,700. 

\fongala eottage was a. property acquired in 1935 in the 

name of the ap:EJella.nt a.t a value of £2,000 representing part 

of the consideration for the sale of Raymond Fla;ts. 

Raymond Flats were acquired in 1935 in the name of the 

appe 11ant for the sum of ,£?, 6oo. The purchase price was 

sa.ti.sfied by a. payment in cash of £3, too, the transfer of 

certain properties in llllu·ou_bra Bay Road and Pai.ne Street 

Randwick valued a.t ,£1,000 and £2,000, standing in the names 

of Franci.s and Hil.da 0 'Grady respectively of which the bank-

rupt was the beneficial owner, and of a property called. 

11 Aston Gardens 11, 'Woollahara valued a.t £1., 500, acquired in the 

name of the bankrupt's daught.er frmm his mather Annie M.ozall 

in wh.ose name apparent.ly the bankrupt had purchased the pro-

p.erty. The evidence does. not, I think, disclose the source 

of the cash payment £3,100. Raymond Flats it will be re-

membered was one of the properties which the appellant said 

the ba,nkrupt appropriated or made over t.o him as c:o:m.pensation 

for breaches of trust committed by the bankrupt. 
""' 

Oceanic:__Hotel Coogee. 

The bankrupt held a lease of this hotel from 1931 

to 1939. In 1939 he pro!Josed a further lease for a period 

of one year with an option of purchase for £?0,000. The 

landlord declined the offer but agreed to sell for £70,000 

including furniture. The purchase was made in the name of 

the appellant and the bankrupt's daughter. A sum of £20, 000 
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One :for £1,000 drawn by the bankrupt and the appellant as 

directors on the account of the :Iloogee :Bay Company Ltd. and 

late:r refunded by means of a cheque d.:rawn by the bankrupt on 

the ()ceanic Hotel account. The other a cheque for £19,000 

drawn by the appellant on his account into which had been 

paid £2,000 in cash and also a sw..t~. of £17,500 or thereabouts, 

part of the proceeds of sale of the Aerodrome Hotel. The 

ba;[.a.nce £5'0,000 remained outstanding •. 

'fhe land on which the Ae rodrom:e Hotel stands was 

acquired in the name of the appellant and a buUding was 

ereoted thereon at a cost, found by the bankrupt, of about 

£10,000. The Aerod .. rome Hotel, it will be remembered, was 

one of the pro:pe rt ie s which the fi.ppellant said wa.s appropria­

t.e.d or made aver to him by the bankrupt as compensa.t ion for 

breaches of trust corrunitted 1l1y the bankrupt. 

In 1935 the Settler "s A:rm.s Hotel ha.d been acquired in 

the name of the appellant but the hotel was delicensed. and 

i.n 1. 938 the license was acquired. and trl:l.nsfe:rred to the 

Aerodrome Hotel. 

Cheverton Flats. 

This property was acquired in the name of 11:Birdie 

Pitt" for £16,5'00 and was sold in 1940 for £15,25'0. It was 

subject to a mortgage of £1.2,5'00 which was taken over. The 

appel~a.nt asserted that he agreed with his si.ster to purchase 

' this property. The J"udge accepted this statement, far the 

purposes of the day, and only declared that one half interest 

belonged to the bankrupt while i.t stood in the name of 

11:Birdie P'itt~t. 11:Birdie Pitt 11 , whose real name is Morris, was 

a dressmaker employed by the female members of the Trautwein 

fam:ily. She had no beneficial interest in the property. 

'fhe £4,000 for the equity of the property was satisfied by 

the payment o:f £2,000 cash and the transfer of a ~property 

knovvn as "Ruperra11 in Elizabeth :Bay valued at £2,000. 

Apparently the cash pa;yment of £2,000 was derived from a sum 



1,, ......... 7-

of £2,104 credited to the account of the appellant and 

being the ba.la.nce payable in respe~t of the resale of' the 

flats by "Birdie Pitt"". 

The :property known as ttRuperra.» had been acquired in 

1938 in the name of the app.ellant in part satisfaction of a 

sale of 110rielton Farm.11' which was, one of the properties which 

the appellant said had been appro];J ria ted or made ov:e r to 

h.im as compensation for breaches of trust. 

11 0rielton Fa.:r.mu had. been a.cquired in 1931 in the name 

of the bankrupt ''a brother for £16,000 subject to a mort.gage 

of £10,500. The mortgage was taken over, and the balance 

of the price was satisfied by the transfer of land in Rand­

wic.k valued at. £1,000 acquired i.n the name of the bankrupt's 

daughter and of a.n equity in flats known a.s 11 A.m.bassado r 

Flats 11 acquired in the name of the bankrupt. 's brother, 

valued at. £4,5'00. The Randwick pro];lerty had been acquired 

for ,£2,100 in exchange for the ~'ark Gate Hotel valued at 

,£800 ac:qui.red by the bankrupt in 1925'; land at Penshurst. 

valued at £1 , 000 acquired by the. ban.krupt in 1925 ~ and c~.sh 

The "Ambassador Flats 11 had been acquired in 1930 

in. the name of the bankrupt's bro:ther in part satisfa.c.t ion 

of' a sale by the bankrupt o:f the Regent Hotel, South Kensing-

ton, erected, I gather, on land acquired by the ba.nkrupt. in 

the name of his mother Ajj.nie Mogall. The acquisition of 

Chevert.on Flats i.s thlila traced t.o the acquisitions by the 

bankrupt of t.he Park Gat.e Hotel, the land at. Penshurst and 

the Re~nt Hot.el •. 

Royal Hotel Yalgett_, 

Wongala Catt'Yie. 

Ra,ymond Flats. 

Settler's Alms. 

Hu;perra, ]Jl izabeth Bay Road 
.!![cite 1 

Club House,IPeak Hill. 

Commercial Hotel. 
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All these properties had also been sold at the date of 

sequestration but it is declared that while the properties, 

stood in the name of the appellant they belonged beneficially 

to the bankrupt. All but the Club House Hotel, Peak Hill and 

the Commercial Hotel have been already mentioned. Royal Hotel 

'IJalget.t, Wongala Cottage and Raymond ]flats in connection with 

the Royal Hotel Riverstone. Settler's Arms in connection 

with the Oceanic Hotel. Ruperra in connection with Cheverton 

~Flats. 

The Club House Hotel, Peak Hill was acquired in 1934 

in the name of the appellant. But he said that he knew 

nothing about it and had never had anything to do with it 

a.nd had heard that the bankrupt bought it and sold it J.Hacti­

cally stra.ight a1ivay at a pro ;fit. 

The Co:mmerc ial Hotel. 

About 1935 Vralsh and Cashel purchased this hotel 

from the registered prop<rietora. Walsh's interest was 

acquired in the name of the appellant and in 1936 was sold 

to Tooth 8c Co. Ltd. The regist.e red proprietors, Walsh and 

Cashel, in consideration. of £800 paid to them, and in con­

sideration of ,£)00 paid by Tooth & Co. Ltd. to the appellant 

and of .~5PQ paid by ·rooheys Ltd. to Ca.shel, transferred the 

hotel to Tooth and Co. Ltd. and Tooheys Ltd. The appellant 

said he knew nothing about the transaction but that he handed 

over to the ba.nkrupt the sum. of £500 to hold on his behal.f. 

The judgrn.e nt appealed from also de clare s that ce rt::-1.in 

•personal property standing in the name of the appellant forms 

part of the bankrupt's estate and directs that the same be 

transferred tc:/the respondent as trustee of that estate. 

Coogee Bay 1-Iotel Pty.Ltd •. 25, 700 sha.res. 

In 1926-1927 tha bankrupt acquired some 78,ooo shares 

in the Coogee Bay Hotel Ltd., which changed its name in 1937 

to the Coogee 13ay Hotel Proprietary Ltd. In 1928 the bankrupt 

transferred 10,000 shares to his mother Annie Mozall, 10,000 
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shares, t.a his sist.er, Augusta Chapman,_ who at the time held 

200 shares, and in 1931 he transferred 17,418 shares to his 

daughter" 10,000 shares to his sister Hilda O'Grady, 10,000 

shares to his wife and 10,000 shares to his. brother who at 

the t.ime also held 200 shares in the company. In l 932 the 

bankruptta wife transferred 5,000 shares to one Egan and 

another 5, 000 shares in 1933 to one Hill who in 1934 trans­

ferred the same to one Hooker who sometJ.mes acted aet agent 

far the ba.nkrupt. In 1933 one Small transferred 500 shares 

to the appellant and in 1935 the bankruptts sisters each 

transferred to him 10,000 shares. and also in 1935 Egan trans­

ferred to the appellant 5, 000 shares. which the bankrupt's 

wife had tra.nsi'erred to him. Small, the bankrupt's sisters 

and Egan had no beneficial interest in the shares i.n their 

names and held them for the bankrupt.. :l:he brother stated 

t.hat the bankrupt des.ired to put 1.0,006 shares in hi.s name 

for t.he appellant and he re:Plied that he was agreeable. 

Accordingly shares were t.ransferred. into his name but he h.ad 

no beneficial interest in t.he.m.. In 1940 one Coward tran~-

fe rred to the appellant. 312 shares. The appellant asserted, 

a..s already appears, that the aha. res t.ra.neferred into his name 

were compensation for brea.ches of trust on t.he patrt of' t.he 

bankrupt. About 1935 the appellant applied for 100 Governo :r 

sha.res which were allotted to him and gave him complete con-

trol of the company •. The ba.nkru-pt and his wife relin,quished 

their posit.ians as managing director and director of the 

company and. were. thereupo.n appointed as ordinary d.irectors. 

The company at. first fixed the a.ppellant 's remuneration 

as governing director a..t £30 per week, but. in 1936 increased 

it to £4,700 for the year and i.n 1937 raised it to ,£5, 700 

while for the sam£ perio.d the bankrupt and his wife's re­

muperation was fixed at £l ,300 and ,£500 per year. 

In 1938 the company borrowed ,£45,000 and advalnced it 

to the bankrupt free of interest and without security. Later 
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a f.urther sum of £'15' ,000 was borrowed of which ,£14, 5'00 was 

advanced to the bankrupt free: of interest and without security; 

the balance was advanced to the appellant •. Ad.vance s made 

to the bankrupt •·s daught.e:r were also to be free of i.nterest 

and without. security. 

Amounts standing to the credit of the bankrupt's wife 

for director's fees were transferred to the credit of the 

bankru.pt .• And. likewise in 1937 a sum of near]y £4,000 

standing to the credit of the appellant's account was trans-

fe:rred to the credit. of the bankrupt's account. 

Tattersalls Hotel Penrit.h ProQriet.ary Ltd. 5'00 shares. 

In 1939 the bankrupt h.eld a lease of this hotel for 

10 years. The company was incorporated in 1939 for t.he pur-

pose of carrying on the hotel business. :But the lease of 

the premises remained in the bankrupt.. The bankrupt was 

appointed Chairman of Directors of the company. Applications 

for shares were made by and allotted to various persons. 

The a.ppellant a:pplied for and was a.llotted 5'00 shares. 

Minutes of a. directors; meeting of the company record in 1940 

that the directors being sati.sfied that certain shares, were 

held either by or in t ru.st for the bankrupt resolved that 

the s.ame be transferred into the name of his trustee in 

bankruptcy. These shares were:-

5'00 shares in the name of T •. C. Trautwein. 

500 11 !I II M.. Hogan. 

1000 shares in the name of W.M. Ansley 

1000 II II II II II Francis o•Grady 

5'00 If It II II II Austin Frauenfelder 

5'00 II "' 11 "' " Alex 1. Kaston 

500 " II II ,, I! Ronald Walker. 

The remai.ning Shares issued by the company were:-

500 shares in the name of the appella.nt (already men-
tioned) 

t share It• II II " !...W. Ryan 

1 share 11 II II II c;r.Angles 

500 shares " II " !l Ronald Walker. 
10~0 ShareS !<. 1./. Frt!lue~trelde>-
!10 0 snares L.. ;;r_ Hecker 
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T.he application in the name of lfalker was for 1,000 

shares and he was allotted. that number. Eut it should. be 

observed that the shares allotted to Hoga.n,. Frauenfelder and 

Walker were all paid by means of cheques drawn by the Scottish 

L.oa.n and Fi.nance Co. Ltd. The a.mou.nt payable in respect of 

the shares issued in the name of the appellant were satisfied 

by means of a. cheque drawn on his account but. into which a 

sw:n of ,£500 was paid. a day or so before. from another account 

in his name, a cheque from the bankrupt's wife, a cheque 

drawn by one Forsyth and two small cheques drawn by the Coogee. 

E~ Hot.el Proprietacy Ltd. And according to the respondent 
the shares in the name of Hooker belonged to him. 

· Gosford Racing Club Ltd. 21,709 shares. 

These shares were acquired. about the year 1935 in the 

nam.e of the appellan.t from various sources .. One Hooker, 

who sometimes act.ed for the bankrupt negotiated two of these 

acquisi ti.ons. And. as to 9,400 of theae shares acquired from 

GaUt •s Estat.e the evidence is that. the bankrupt purchased 

them. But it will be remembered. tl:1at the a:ppella.nt said that 

the bankrupt a:ppropriat.ed. or mad.e over these shares to him 

as compe.nsat.ion for breaches of trust committed by the bank-

rupt .• 

Menangle Park Racing Club Ltd. 697 shares. 

The:s:e shares were transferred to the appella.nt in 

1934-5 by three different persons. About the same time, 

1935-1936, shares were transferred into the name of Annie 
and 45'0 more at some unspecifi.ed dat.e 

Jllozall (3ooy, the bankruptts wife (,132.5}, the bankrupt's 

aist.er Hild.a (600), hi.s brother-in-law Franct.s 0 'Grady (501), 

the bankrupt. 's sister .Augusta {:200) and the bankrupt himself 

(522). The bankrupt •·a sisters and his brother-in-law: had 

no bene.ficial in.terest in their shares and the otGradys 

trans.ferred the sha.res in their names to the trustee in 

bankruptcy. And the appellant. asserted, as already stated, 

that the shares in his name were appropriated or JDade over 

t.o him by t.h.e bankrupt as COJ:llpensation for brea..ahes o.f trust 
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committed by him. and he also said. that he did not provide 

t.J1e consideration for their transfer. 

Richmond .Jockey Club Ltd. 462 shares. 

'The Jockey Club Co. a.cquired certain property :from 

the Richmond Trotting & Racing Club Ltd. in which the bankrupt 

was interested. As :part of the consideration for the ac-

q_uisiticm of the property of the Trotting Club the .Jockey 

a lub agreed to allot to the bankrupt and hi.s nominees cel!'tai n 

s::ha .. res. Accordingly 462 sha:,res were allotted. to the appellant 

w1lo gave no aonsidera.t ion. far them. 

Rive.rstone R.otel Pty~. Ltd. 100 shares. 

This company was formed to take over the tenancy of 

tJJ.e Royal Hotel, Riverstone, alrea.dy mentioned. The appellant 

w:a.s allotted 100 shares and. his sister 100 shares. If, 

l:Lowever, the appellant. held the hat.el it.self in trust for 

tJJ.e bankrupt the benefit of this tenancy accrues to him or 

his estate. 

Howell's Mortgage £3,000. 

The judgment. declares that the sum o.f £],000 lent by 

t Jle appellant. on mo rt.ga.ge to Frank Howell was money that be­

longed. beneficially to the bankrupt and was lent ·by the 

a.::ppellant to Howell as a. t rust.ee far the bankrupt. About 

l 934 the sum of £3,000 was lent to Howell on the security of 

a mortgage given to the appellant. The appellant ts evidence 

is to the effect that the bankrupt gave him the money so that 

he could lend it to Howell, which he di.d. By 1.936 the :princi-

pal money and interest had all Ibeen repaid • 

.Bonds Num.bered 5035 & 8698. 

:Bond 5035 was converted into :Bond 8698. The appellant 

asserted t.ha.t he requested the bankrupt to :purchase the bonds 

f<lr him, that he did so 1 and that the aMlella.nt :paid him f'or 

tbe same. The judge did not believe the a:ppe11a.nt and was 

satisfied that. the bon.ds were purchased by the bam.:kru::g.t on 

h:js own account and out of the loan o:tr £45,000 made to him 
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by the Coogee :Say C:o:m.pa.ny Pty. Ltd. 

It will be gathered from this summary, as was said by 

the learned judge, that the bankrupt took a leading part in 

planning the.se various transactions, negotiating them, deciding 

wha.tt property should be purchased and how the acq:uisit.ion 

should be financed and carried out. And also that the bank-

rupt was tra.ffi.cking in property in the names of ather people. 

Al.so that his methods of acquiring property we.re unusual, and 

a..e the judge said, circuitous. Moreover the bankrupt~ acquis-

i tion of property in the names of ather people was coincident 

wi.th the increasing and overwhelming demands upon him :ror 

i.ncome t.axes. And. the di.spositions in favour of the appellant 

involve amounts that arrest atte.ntion.. 'r-hus £19, Boo in cash 

(including mortgage repqments) was :put into Royal Hotel, 

Riverstone and £20,000 cash into the Oceanic Hotel, Coogee. 

The evidence does not, I think, state t.he e.xact value of. the 

shares standing in the name of the appe-llant but it is to 1Je 

observed that. advances weize made t.o the bankrupt by the Coogee 

:Bay Company Pty. Ltd. of £60,000 free of' security and interest 
I • from moneys that it ha.d borrowed on the aeu:ur~ty, I apprehend, 

of the hotel :property •. ~he appellant., it will be remembered 1 

ha.d the complete cant rol of' the company a.s t.he holder of 100 

Governor Shares. And th.e appellam:t was a young man - who 

attained his majority in 1933 - and, as already appears, of 

small means. and little bu.s.inesa experience. The learned 

judge also relied upon other facts connected with' the receipt 

of rents, profits and dividends and he also referred to some 

dealings with the Bl.ue Mountains Hotel~ The Ivanhoe Hotel, 

the Belmore Hotel and the Maroubra Hotel which in the main 

he discarded. 

But I do not :fj rld it necessary to investigate these 

matters in detail fo :r the summary given is sufficient, in my 

judgment, for the determination o:f' the al)peal. 

The decision of the judge in bankruptcy must ·be displaced 
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by the appellant especially in a case in which he saw and 

hea.Td material witnesses. The suggestion on t.he part o:f the 

appellant. that the di~po sit ions in his :favour weTe :fo T his 

advancement in life is de at royed partly by his own asseTt.ion 

that many were made to compensate him for va~ious breaches of 

t ru.st on the part of the bankrupt, and partly by the magnitude, 

the time and the fonn o:f the various disposit.ions. True, 

the judge did not a.acept the appellants assertion that the 

dispoeition_.s were made to compensate the appellant :for 

breaches o:f trust committed by the bankrupt, but it neverthe-

lees operates against any presumption o:f advaacement. 

Omitt.ing :for the time being the transaction relating to 

".Dover Heights", which ha.a not yet been mentioned and which I 

shall exa.mine later,and putting also on one side the suggestion 

o:f advancement, the facts already summarised amply sstain 

the judge's conclusion. that at the commencement of the bank-

rup.tcy the Ri'werstone Rote~ and the in.te.rest in the Oceanic 

Hotel. acquired in the name of the appellam:t and the shares 

in the C:oogee Bay Rote~ Pt.y. Ltd. and the other shares before 

mentioned belonged to the respondent the trustee in bankruptcy 

on the ground that the a1Jpellant was a true tee of the same for 

the bankrupt .. 

But I :rulilstrefer to. a. formal objection in connection 

with the Oceanic Hotel. 

It was said that the proceedings relating to this 

HoteJ/are defective for want of parties. It will be remem-

bered that the hotel was acquired in the name of the appellant 

and his sister, the bankrupt ta daught.er. But the declaration 

and ancilla.:xy order affect the appellant "s interest alone and 

the order directing an assurance relates to that interest and 

in no way affects the interest, if any, of the daughter. 

This objection :fails .. 

The judge's conclusion as to the Bonds and the order as 

t.o Bond No. 8698 is well supported by the evidence. 
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And his conclusions as to pro:perty that formerly stood 

in the name of the. appellant i.s also supported ;gy the evidence. 

I refer to Royal Hotel, Wa.lgett, 1fongala Cottage, Raym.ond 

Flats, used directly or indirectly in financing the purchase 

of the Royal Hotel at Rive~tone. And to the Are rod rome Hotel 

and Settler's Arms used directly or indirectly in financing 

the Oceanic Hotel. And t,o a half interest in Cheverton Flats 

acquired in the name of 11Ilirdie Pttt 11 and the property 

9 Ru:g;erra 11 used i.n financing the purchase. And to Howellts 

M.ortgage. And also to the Club House Hotel and the Commercial 

Kotel. It was contended, however, that the .. : declarations 

in re ape at of these properties were" in the; ai·r" and were not 

made as a step towards abtaini.ng any relief .. :But in the 

majority of cases the declarations cm-e a step tq.wards obtain­
Royal Hotel 

ing a declaration in respect of othe.r properties e.g .jRiver-
Hotel '· 

stone, Oceania/and Cheverton Flats.. And in all cases they 

a;re a step towards further administration in bam.kruptcy of 

the bankrupt's est~te. No order is made requiring an assur-

ance of these properties to the trustee and standing alone 

they do not entitle the trustee to any account of rents, 

profits or dividends received by the appellant. But they 

may with other evidence :f'o.nn the basis of fur·ther proceedings 

in bankruptcy for a.oaount .• They a:re not declarations "in 

the air1', but are a step towa,rds fur·the"r remedies or accounts. 

And it was also objected that the yroceeding, so fa.r as it 

related to Cheverton Flats, was defective as to :pa.arti.es. 

"Birdie Pitt 11 , in wh~ose name the p,::roperty was acquired, and 

the bankrupt's daughter were, it was said, necessary parties. 

But the declaration and omder only relate to one half inte re at 

in the :Property while it stood in the name of 11::Birdie Pitt", 

a mere nominee of the appellant, and does not affect the other 

half interest which may or may not belong to the bankrupt's 

daughter and in respect of which other proceedings axe pending, 

so the Court was informed. 
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The trustee in bankni:ptcy also relied Up@n the provisions 

of S. 37A. of the Conveyancing Act 1919 (N.S.W.), as amend.ed, 

which corresponds with the Statute l3 Eliz,. c. 5. 
• 

The judge 

declared that the provision of money by the bankrupt for the 

purchase of the Royal Hotel, River stone, the gift of mo.ney by 

the bankruJ?t for the purchase. of the appellant 'a interest in 

the Oceanic Hotel, the purchase of yroperties which formerly 

stood in the name of the appellant, c.·-:: the transfer of shaares 

in the Coogee Bay Hotel Pty. Ltd .. and the purchase of the 
Hotel 

shatres,other than the shares in the Riverstone/Pty •. Ltd., were 

alienations made by the bankrupt with intent to defraud 

creditors. The Conveyancing Act 1919-1932, s. 37A provides•-

"Save as provided in this section, every alienation of p.roperty, 

made ••• with intent to defraud credit ora, shall be voidable at 

the instance of any person thereby prejudiced u. The provision 

does not extend to alienations of property in good faith. 

"In whatever way the disposition of property be affe.cted, it 

will. be held within the meaning of the Statute, which i.s 

general, for the suppression of' fraud; and a man will not be 

allow.·ed to do in one way that which he cannot do in another11 • 

(Jl.ay, Fraudulent and Voluntary Dispositions of Property, 3rd ed, 

p. 20~ 

The facts of the case warrant the conclusion that the 

bank:rul)t purchased property in the name of the appellant and 

had assura,nces made to him. of that property with intent to 

defraud his creditors principally the Income Tax eammissione~ . 
.lcHu 

And once it . • found that these purchases were not for the 

advancement of the appellant but for the bankrupt himself, then 

the conclusion is almost inevitable that the purchase.s a.nd 

assurances were -made ·with intent to defraud creditors. But 

what property was aliena.ted by the bankrupt? He was not 

named as the purchaser nor was he a party to any instrument 

of conveyance, transfer or assurance. Under the Statute of 

Elizabeth "all kinds of real and personal property, whether 
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legal or equitable, vested. or contingent, in possession or 

reversionary. which are subject to the payment of debts, and 

liable to be taken in execution, at the time of the fraudulent 

conveyance; but (unless the debtor be dead or a bankrupt) 

no property which is not so liable 11 • A purchase in the 

name of a child or other third person was not originally 

held to be within the Statute l3 Eliz. But that does not~ 

appear to be the law. (Ma;y on Fraudulent Disifositiotls 3rd 

ed. pp. 13-18). Wood V •. C. in :Sarrac·k v McCulloch 3 K.& ;r. 

117, at p. 11.8 said:- "The late case ofFrench v French .. 

(6 BeG. Ma.a .. & G. 95)shows that property purchased as it was 

in that case with. the good.s of the debtor is within the 

statute. The debtor in that case sold his business and stock· 

in-trade in consideration of a money payment, and also an 

a.nnu.ity to himself, and a. coot ingent annuity to his wife if 

she survived him; and it was held that the annuity so pur-

chased for his wife was a gift to her by her husband, which 

was void under the Statute as against his creditors'•. 

So in the case before the Court the purchase of :pro-

perty by the bankrupt in the name of the appellant and con-

veyed.J. transferred or assu:red to him by the vendors as 

a:rranged by the bankru.pt constituted an alienation of property 

by him within the m.eaning of the Conveyancing Act. and having 
0 1-/c.- . ._of' 

been so purchased and assurances ~ with intent to ,, 
defraud his creditors the dispositions are void at the 

instance of the trustee in bankruptcy. 

But I would substitute for the declarations mad.e below 

declarations that the purchase af the .. various properties in 

the name of the a:Ppellant and the assurances made into his 

name constituted. alienations of property by the bankrupt with 

intent to defra..ud his creditors and that the same are void 

against the respondent his trustee in bankruptcy. 

The nnover Heiahts 11• property remains for cons ide rat ion. 

This property was pu:rahased in Jiay 1938 and tra.neferred to 
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the appellant in the same month. It -was purchased as a 

home for the appellant who had married in 1937. It was 

purchased in the nane af the appellant. But the bankrupt 

provided the purchase money £2, 140 out of the sum of £45, 000, 

already mentioned, ad.vanced to him by the Coogee :Bay Co •. Pty. 

Ltd. A dedl.aration was ma.de by the judge that Dover Heights 

belongs to the respon~ent as trustee in bankruptcy on the 

ground that its purchase constituted a settlement of the saxue 

within the meaning of S. 94 of the Bankruptcy Act 1924-1933 

and as such was a.nd is -void against the respondent as such 

tru.stee. That. section provides:- "Any settlement o:f' 

property 0ot being ·.certain settlements immaterial here) 

shall .... if the settlor becomes bankrupt a.t acy subsequent 

ti.me wi.thin five years aft.er the date of the settlement -

be void against the trustee in the bankruptcy unless the 

parties claiming under the settlement can prove that the 

settlo(t' was at the time of making the settlement able to pay 

a11·· his deTht s without the aid of the property compri.sed in 

the settlement, and that the settJiorts interest in the pro­

perty :passed .. to the trustee of the settlement or to the donee 

thereunder on its execution". "'Settlementt forthe purposes 

of this section includes any conveyance or transfer of 

:property'' • "The transaction must be in the nature of a 

settlement, though it may be effected by a. conveyance or 

transfer. The end and :pur,pose of the thing must be a. settle-

ment, that is, a disyosition of property to be held for the 

enjoyment of some other person .. : 'fhus a purchase by the 

father of shalt'es, which are registered in the son's name, 

and u.pon which the son receives the dividends, is within 

the Statut.e •. But where the gift is of money to be expended 

at once, the transaction is not._.withutthe section {In re 

Player ex. ;parte Harvey 15 Q.B .D. 682, a.t p. 687; Williams .v. 

Lloyd 50 C.L.R .. 341, at pp .. 364.·375). 

It is contended that the bankrupt settled the BUlll of 



.£2,140 upon the appellant and not the property it self 

though it was conceded that th.e property stood charged witb 

that aum. But on the whole I think the finding of the judge. 

cannot. be disturbed. It is a. question of fact whether the 

bankrupt himself purchased the prop~ rty in the na.zue of the. 

appellant or provided him with a. su:m of money to purchase 

the property for himself. Speaking generally ·t;he bankrupt 

did not provide the appellant with moneys to purchase 

property but negotiat.ed. purchases on his own account and 

had them trF.mafe rred then into the name of the appellant. 

The ju.dge was. justified, I think, in c.oncluding that the 

bankxu:pt puT sued his usual metl:1od of bu. sine as and himself 

purchased "Dover Heights." and. had it transferred into. the 

name of' the appellant. as a settlement for his benefit. 

It was suggested on.· the part. of the appellaJ:Jt during 

the argument before this Court, that he is entitled to a lien 

or cbarge in respect of obligations incurred by him in 

connect.ion with any property whi.ch he iEi by the judgment, 

appealed against directed to convey or trans.fer to the 

trustee in bankruptcy, and to be indemnified by the trustee 

in bankruptcy: against obligat.ions i.n respect of which ·the 

appe~la.nt may become l.iable in respect of the prOPG''l:t.Jl' 

so directed to be conveyed or transferred. This claim wa.;s 

not mad..e before the Bankruptcy Court nor in the notice of 

appe a.l to this Court. 

It may be that the appe'lla.nt is entitled to liens and 

charges and to be ind,emnified against. obligations properly 

incurred by him in connection with property directed to be 

conveyed or transferred to the trustee in bankruptcy, but 

whether the indemnity should be personal on the part of the 

trustee, leaving him t.o his right of indemnity against the 

bankrupt.' s estate, or confined to the assets of the 

bankrupt.ts estate, has not been argued, and this Court should 

not, I think, finally dispose of the matter without more 
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precise knowledge of the claims of the appella.nt. It will be 

sufficient protection for him if it be declared that, the 

conveyances and transfers directed by the judgment are 

without prejudice to any application on his part to the 

Bankruptcy Court. for an Iinder declaring, what, if any, liens 

or charges in his favour the proper"t.ies are subject and 

what indemnity or indemnities, (if any), should be given to 

the appellant. Subject to t.he approval of the judge, the 

parties, i.f they agree, can settle the farm and in case 

they differ then the judge in bankruptcy can dispose of the 

matter. 

Subject to the variations and. additions mentio.ned., 

this appeal should be dismissed. 











principle he proceeded. Fo:r'.it looks almost as if .. it was·. a mere chance 

whether a contract or t1tJ.'1 WEl,S. t.aken .i;n. th~ name of his son, his 

daughter, his wife or. somecine else~: ;• Name~ were som~times · ~llanged at 

the last lllinute. Propert:f.~~ i~i 0~: ~~~'. ox- their pr6ceeds ,· were used • 

for the acqu~sition of pro~erti~s ~b_:: another name, in the,. cours~ Of 

·transactions by way of purd,b.ase ~~· ~~~ctJnge 
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... bankrupt. 
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were rej;a~~~d:;,·~.n''inu~h the s,ame Wf+Y. That whbll , 

the.··· bankrupt·•· oraikrtlY·J~s~:d. .wa~ .;i_;ij'·'~~~ '.nal11~ .. of ·a 11m1 ted company 

·forn!~d to 'c:onduct an hoter,I'~ut ,i~~~!:;:~~~~~s. ,in his son.1sbank .account· 
' "• .,, '~~ •:• .,'. ' ·"' ' ,;:•.' ,',.·:·<"<J:',:.': 'J: ,::::·.:,i:••',,:J" ,1' ,' I,, ·:·,: .. ·::' : 

~~~ent' might be· :t't:a.~~~bl~· .. .t@::i,'·~~i,,ii;'~:f t~e many sources .of 

:capiiai.· ··.or · ~r ···~eve1lh~···.·~~ai.ik~l~:/:~:~~;·:;~~~~;/!!i'(~~~upt .• •tlle .••••. '.l3knk~upt did 
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,;, ' ' 'I ' ' ' I I . ',··,:· .. , 1 ,:: .. 'i,''i":: .. c.•'f'. 
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ehanges by the d~b:t~:>r ~ith' 
to·, defraud have been held ·riot ··to st8.~d in the· way 

Ch., 831•> ·· T shoul~ :.·~~·.D~:;,'tki;;· 
rE)asoning. ~~p~ie~ ~ith refe~e;nce. to sec •. 94 o:t the, Ba.nkrupt~y 

I ',+11',1 

ii,!lat>,I cannot see why .. ite!n'.No;.3 "Dove~ Hei~li~st,t shC)uld not 
:Eafl within it. ' /·( ... ·. .• ... . , , ·. ··.· ·.·. ·' .·.· .··· ... \ ··· .. ··· ·····• · ... · .· 

.I think that it is ~~cess~~y to saymo:re'on~h~,maln>pa:[tti 
''•' ,,, ... ·':·1,<:.,.·',, ,. ·' ,, '.' ., ' ' ' : ',, ' /'·,·.':'1 
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cas·e, what may be c~l~~~\.~.~e,;.:~t:firl¥1-tj,ve 'ca~e of the ,trust~e , , 

in>b~nkr.uptey.··· .. The. leai'JJ~:·jli~~~~;:~~i;':J,'~~~~·to~rt ··or:~Emkruptcy.· ~~~;·~eal:t .•.•.. ··· 
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in full ·detail •with··•.· the.· hi~'tb~~.'··c):f''};~~~h.iitran~actioD. al1d ··'b.as •. ·given a·. 

'careful and co~plete ac~~Uzit'o~·Jf~~~·;ri),,,i~~~:£·~~~~~ upori ~hicn• he ~;~ached his I 

.. · .· ·.·· ,1''· .. ·•··•·•···•••··•·•.·. , .. ··. ·'• .) . . :,;,' I i·l'::.~,,.,':'i•:::~.;~:·',i)/i:<:•'(i;l'li;/,',,,·. I i II •; I ,< 1: ., ... · I .. 1: 
His, .Honour '.~ .. :J~dgw~~~::;.~pp~f!re~ ·~o.··.·.·ni~. !h,911Y'· to .'\\f~thstand 
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I. ' ·•·· • • • •• ··~ ••• • i .· ..• ···,·~,~~' , :• ' ( ;\•i;i.;•·;,l:i!'iir':~·<•., ····.·~,··~,, ···'''···~···••·· .... •!/•; , ,,~, ;,:·'' ··•·.~·• ··~ 
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·' whic):l might. be drawh,.as,:'.1:ib.~:.·r~su:t"t;.'Jpf more general• considerations.~ 
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tc;>)>~J;'~:i~P.~ a~actions .counsel' was able to sugges 
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